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PRECIS

Four or five experienced NAIL MAKERS, on Rudd’s patented principle, are wanted in the
CUMBERLAND NAIL WORKS, thirty six miles from Philadelphia, to whom constant
employment and liberal wages will be given...Apply to BENJ. & DAVID REEVES, No. 19,
North Front-street, PHILADELPHIA...N.B. Workman from Eastern Factories will be
preferred.

“Nail Makers Wanted,” Boston Gazette, 17 August 1818

Just three years after opening, the Cumberland Nail Works was thriving to the point of advertising as far away
as Boston for skilled workmen. Benjamin and David Reeves, two well-capitalized brothers from Gloucester
County, had come to Bridgeton in 1815 and bought fifty percent of the water rights from the damming of the
Cohansey River, which had been accomplished by Ebenezer Seeley, James Lee, and Smith Bowen just four
years earlier. The Reeves brothers constructed a cut nail factory on the west bank of the Cohansey, the first
major industry in the small, rural county seat. Over the next eighty-five years, Cumberland Nail Works
changed the fortunes of Bridgeton, playing a major role as the town developed into the largest and most
prosperous New Jersey city south of Camden.

In many respects, the history of the Cumberland Nail Works, later incorporated as the Cumberland Nail and
Iron Company, is the history of Bridgeton in the nineteenth century. It was reportedly the presence of
Cumberland Nail Works that convinced the New Jersey Legislature to award a charter to the Cumberland Bank
in 1816; Oberlin Smith, Bridgeton’s nationally-known industrialist in the early twentieth century, founder of the
Ferracute Machine Company, started his working life at Cumberland Nail and Iron. The hundreds of acres of
undeveloped property north and west of the nail factory, through which the water power was supplied by means
of the Raceway, was opened to public enjoyment from the early years of the Cumberland Nail Works’
existence, and developed into a much used and appreciated de facto city park.

When Cumberland Nail and Iron Company, economically devastated by the advent of wire nails, faced a
bankruptcy sale in 1899, the citizens of Bridgeton suddenly realized the civic asset they had come to take for
granted could disappear. They rallied to the cause, and convinced the City of Bridgeton to purchase the
property for a city park. Thus what was Bridgeton’s chief industrial asset in the nineteenth century was
transformed into one of its chief cultural and recreational assets in the twentieth and twenty-first centuries.

Through all this, the office building has played a pivotal role. The oldest section dates to 1815, one of the
original buildings of the Cumberland Nail Works. It was expanded twice over the next half century as
Cumberland Nail Works grew into Cumberland Nail and Iron Company, always fulfilling its function as the
corporate heart of the expanding facility. When the property was transformed into Bridgeton City Park, the
office served for a time as the headquarters of the Bridgeton Park Commission. Remodeled in the 1940s, it then
took on a role as a meeting place for civic organizations, an art gallery, and eventually as a museum operated by
the Bridgeton Antiquarian League and Historical Society. It remains today as one of two buildings surviving
from the considerable complex that was the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company, and the only one in its
original location.

The collection of the Bridgeton Antiquarian League was removed from the building about 2008, leaving the
building vacant. A group of citizens became concerned about the future use and maintenance of the office, and
undertook a campaign to study its history, condition, and potential for future utilization. It was for this group,
working on behalf of the City of Bridgeton and the Bridgeton Main Street Association, that this Preservation
Plan for the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office was prepared, with a Garden State Historic
Preservation Trust Fund matching grant, administered by the New Jersey Historic Trust.

This Preservation Plan presents the strategy for restoration/rehabilitation and interpretation of the building
within the framework of an organized analysis of the assets and needs of the building and the City of Bridgeton.
The resultant findings and recommendations for the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office are organized
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under four sections of this Preservation Plan: Background and Historical Analysis, Chronological
Development, Analysis of Existing Conditions, and Recommendations.

The Background and Historical Analysis presents the background and historical context of the building. It
includes an architectural description, a discussion of its significance and of its significant features. The section
provides an overview of the history of the building and the people responsible for its construction, alteration,
and maintenance over the years.

The section concludes that the office possesses:

e Historical significance as the corporate heart of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company, Bridgeton’s
major industry throughout the nineteenth century, and the business that propelled Bridgeton from being
a small county seat to becoming an important South Jersey municipality;

e  Cultural significance for its preservation by the City of Bridgeton at the time of the formation of the
Bridgeton City Park, following the dissolution of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company at the turn
of the twentieth century;

e  Cultural significance for its continued use throughout the twentieth century in its role as the meeting
place of many civic organizations and home of the Bridgeton Antiquarian League’s museum.

The Chronology of Construction section summarizes the results of research of the documented changes to the
structure and of field investigation of the changes. This section describes the original configuration of the
office, and the alterations made to it over the course of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.

The Chronology of Construction section traces the development of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company
Office from its initial construction to the present, and identifies four major builds:

e  First Build: Initial construction, 1815;

e Second Build: North extension, mid nineteenth century;

e  Third Build: North wing, before 1866;

e  Fourth Build: Bridgeton City Park renovation, 1944,

The Analysis of Existing Conditions section summarizes the results of a survey-level assessment and analysis
of conditions of the structure, including architectural features, accessible structural components, and systems.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions section reports that the condition of the site is considered to be:
e Good with respect to fire apparatus access to the building;

Good with regard to fire exposure from adjacent properties;

Good with respect accommodations for visitor parking;

Poor with regard to site drainage of surface water;

Good with respect to the availability of water and sewage service;

Good with respect to barrier-free access to the first floor entrance.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions finds the conditions of the foundations and masonry are:

e  Good with respect to the foundation walls from the interior of the basement;

e  Good with respect to the cementitious parge on the exterior of the foundation;

e Historically inappropriate with respect to the concrete masonry unit and cementitious parge
foundation;

e  Fair with respect to the masonry safe foundation in the basement;

e  Good with respect to the historic integrity of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company stabilization at
the safe foundation in the basement;

e  Good with respect to the exterior masonry on the north fagade fireplace chimney;

e Good with respect to the chimney on the east facade;

e  Poor with respect to the structural functionality of the pilasters.

Based on material observations, the Analysis of Existing Conditions finds the condition of the wood framing
to be:
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Fair to poor with respect to condition of first floor framing visible in the basement;
Good with respect to the condition of the roof framing;

Indeterminate with respect to the condition of the attic floor framing;
Indeterminate but suspect with respect to the condition of the wall framing.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions section finds roofing and moisture protection to be in:
e  Good with respect to condition of composition shingle roof and plywood sheathing;
e Historically inappropriate with respect to the composition shingle roofing and plywood sheathing;
e Historically inappropriate with respect to lack of gutters and rainwater conductors;
e Potentially damaging to the building with respect to lack of gutters and rainwater conductors.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions section finds that, overall, wood cladding and trim is considered to be in:
e  Fair to poor condition with respect to the weatherboards;
e  Good condition with respect to the cornice crown molding where extant;
e Historically inappropriate condition with respect to the box cornice where replacing the cornice crown
molding;
e  Generally good condition with respect to window and door casings;
e Historically inappropriate with respect to the missing window hoods.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions finds that exterior finishes are considered to be in:
e  Generally good condition with respect to coatings on wood cladding and trim;
e  Fair condition on doors and shutters;
e  Poor condition on windows;
e Indeterminate with respect to the presence of lead.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions summarizes the conditions of the windows as:

e  Good with respect to historical integrity;

e  Fair to poor with respect to general condition of the six-over-six sash and casings on the south and
center sections;
Fair to poor with respect to general condition of the six-over-six sash and casings on the north section;
Poor with respect to operability of all sash;
Good with respect to existence of historic hardware;
Fair with respect to condition of historic hardware.

The conditions of the exterior doors are summarized as:

e  Good with respect to historic integrity of doors;
Fair with respect to condition of exterior doors;
Good with respect to historic integrity of hardware on west door;
Indeterminate with respect to historic integrity of hardware on east door;
Good with respect to operability of west door;
Non-existent with respect to operability of east door.

The conditions of the shutters are summarized as:
e  Good with respect to historic integrity of shutters;
Fair to poor with respect to condition of shutters;
Fair with respect to historic integrity of hardware on shutters;
Fair with respect to condition of hardware on shutters;
Poor with respect to operability of hardware on shutters;
Inappropriate and potentially damaging with respect to installation of shutters by screwing to building.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions finds the condition of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office
with regard to meeting ADAAG requirements is considered:
e  Adequate with respect to the path of travel from the public sidewalk to the entrance on the west side;
e Non-complying with respect to the height of the sill and threshold at the west entrance;
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Adequate with respect to circulation throughout the exhibit space;
Adequate with respect to the entrance width to the restroom;
Non-complying with respect to the interior of the restroom.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions section finds the interior to be:

Good with respect to condition of the floors;

Historically inappropriate with respect to the polyurethane coating;

Fair to good with respect to the condition of the plaster walls and ceiling;

Good with respect to the condition of the gypsum wallboard ceiling;

Historically inappropriate with respect to the gypsum wallboard ceiling;

Good with respect to the coatings on the plaster, gypsum wallboard and wood trim;
Indeterminate with respect to the presence of lead in paint;

Good with respect to the condition of the brick fireplace and federal-style mantel;
Fair with respect to the condition of the finishes in the restroom;

Good with respect to the integrity of the historic fabric in the attic;

Poor with respect to the operability of the clock;

Historically inappropriate with respect to the finish on the interior clock case;
Apparently inoperable with respect to door allowing access to the exterior clock face.

In regard to building systems, the Analysis of Existing Conditions finds the mechanical system to be in:

Adequate condition regarding the age and model of the furnace;

Poor condition regarding the apparent lack of maintenance on the furnace;

Good condition regarding the supply air distribution ducts;

Poor condition regarding the destruction of the insulation on the attic ducts;
Inappropriate condition regarding the location of the vertical supply duct in the restroom;
Inappropriate condition regarding the use of wood joists in the return air lines;

Good condition regarding the hot water supply;

Indeterminate condition regarding the municipal water supply;

Indeterminate condition regarding the municipal sewer service;

the plumbing system to be in:

Fair condition with respect to the restroom;

Poor condition with regard to the corrosion of the water and sewer pipes where they enter the west
basement wall;

Fair condition with regard to the lack of support for the sewer piping in the basement;

Historically inappropriate with respect to the location of the restroom;

and the electrical system to be:

Adequate in regard to amperage for the present requirements of the non-air-conditioned building;
Poor in regard to the lack of cover and inconvenient location of the electrical panel box;

Poor in regard to the non-metallic sheathed wiring;

Historically inappropriate with respect to the lighting, both downlights and chandeliers.

The Analysis of Existing Conditions finds the condition of the fire detection and fire protection systems to be:

Good with respect to proximity to fire department services;

Inadequate with respect to separation of potential combustibles and ignition sources from the historic
building and collections, particularly with respect to basement storage;

Non-existent with respect to fire detection;

Non-existent with respect to fire suppression;

Indeterminate with respect to fire department response time.

The Recommendations section finds that because of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office’s historic
significance, work performed on the building should comply with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for
the Treatment for Historic Properties (1995) (Appendix A). Recommendations for application of the Standards
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for the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company are that the Standards for Restoration should be applied to the
interior and exterior.

If artifacts are to be housed in the office, measures to conserve the existing structure and collections should be
in conformance with the New Orleans Charter for the Joint Preservation of Historic Structures and Artifacts
(Appendix G), adopted by the American Institute of Historic and Artistic Works (AIC) and the Association for
Preservation Technology International (APTTI).

The determination of the Period of Significance is the pivotal decision in planning for the preservation and
restoration of a historic site or structure. The Period of Significance may be a specific date or a range of dates.
The Recommendations section finds that when the history of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office is
viewed in the whole, the construction of the oldest section in 1815, at the inception of the Reeves brothers’ nail
manufactory undertaking; its vital position as the management core of operations for almost eighty-five years;
its survival after the city’s acquisition of the property; and its continuous community use for over a century as
part of the Bridgeton City Park, bestow on it an ongoing significance. This significance stretches from its initial
construction up to the present time, over a continuum of almost two centuries. The Period of Significance for
the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office therefore encompasses the nearly two-hundred years from 1815
until the present.

The Period of Interpretation, the time frame to which the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office should be
preserved and interpreted, should fall within the Period of Significance. The Recommendations section finds
that the building evolved through its use by the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company and the City of Bridgeton
until 1944, when the city removed interior and exterior fabric dating from the Cumberland Nail period
(including the safe, room partitions and two chimneys) and constructed the extant fireplace and chimney. No
substantial changes have been made since, with the exception of the addition of exhibit cases and a small
restroom installed by the Bridgeton Antiquarian League in the 1970s. Therefore, the recommended Period of
Interpretation is:

e 1944, following the major alterations undertaken by the City of Bridgeton.

At a workshop held on 12 May 2011, it was determined that the City of Bridgeton and other stakeholders would
like to use the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company office in the following manner:
e To open and interpret it to the public to tell the story of:
o The history of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company and Bridgeton’s industrial heritage;
o The history of the City of Bridgeton’s acquisition of the Cumberland Nail and Iron
Company’s extensive property holdings in 1903;
o The subsequent history of the Bridgeton City Park;
e Asahub for a Bridgeton history trail;
e As a gateway for both the park and for a wider exploration of Bridgeton;
e Asasecondary function, use it to hold public meetings, such as for the Bridgeton Historic District
Commission.

Two potential paths forward were identified:
e  The city could remain as the sole steward and operator of the interpreted building;
e  The city could partner with a strong non-profit that would assist in caring for the building and
collection, and would shoulder the responsibility for operating it and keeping it open for interpretation.

Several potential non-profit partners were discussed. Chief among them were:
e A reconstituted Bridgeton Antiquarian League;
e Bridgeton Main Street;
e  Cumberland County Historical Society;
e  Center for Historic American Building Arts (CHABA), a new non-profit in Bridgeton with a mission
to make Bridgeton a preservation study area and to provide training in preservation skills;
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e Development of a Bridgeton Park Commission based on the Fairmount Park Commission in

Philadelphia, a separate autonomous entity with the city but not of it, which could incur debt and create
a revenue stream.

Consistent with the Guiding Vision developed at the Workshop, a proposed reallocation of use and space has
been developed:
e  The main first floor space will be restored, including:
Elimination of the restroom,;
Reopening of the east door that originally provided access to the factory operation;
Restoration of the clock;
Removal as deemed appropriate of cabinets and exhibit cases.
e  The basement will be repurposed as needed for mechanical use, or storage of non-sensitive artifacts.

The Recommendations section finds that convenient permanent barrier-free access could be provided by
construction of:
e A dedicated barrier-free parking space in parking owned by the city and leased to the Salvation Army;
e A barrier-free path of travel with a stabilized surface from the parking space to the front (west) door.

The Recommendations section finds that:
e The site should be gently regraded so that a slight swale, running north-south, separates the building

from the sidewalk;
Foundation drainage should be installed across the west elevation, and discharge to daylight;
The ground immediately around the house should be regraded to provide positive slope away from the
building;
A brick water splash should be constructed at the building perimeter;
The four sycamore trees in the immediate vicinity of the building were planted by the Cumberland Nail
and Iron Company, are significant features, and should be surveyed and cared for by a certified
arborist;

e The foundation plantings of yews are not historically appropriate for the 1944 Period of Interpretation.

Regarding the masonry and chimneys, the Recommendations section finds that:

e The concrete masonry unit foundation with cementitious parge requires no work at present;

e The concrete masonry pilasters in the cellar need to be keyed into the wall either by reconstruction or
other means;

e The masonry of the chimney at the north end should be cleaned of vegetative growth;

e The fireplace should not be used, as the risk of fire damage to the historic building outweighs the
benefit of using the fireplace, and the chimney should be capped to prohibit both the entrance of
moisture and the loss of heat;

e  When it becomes necessary to repoint the chimneys, the mortar mix should be formulated to match the
existing historic mortars in color, texture and detailing;

e When the furnace is replaced with a gas-burning furnace, the chimney on the east wall should be
removed.

Regarding the framing, the Recommendations section finds that:

e The insect damage in the first floor framing, indicated by the presence of powderpost beetle holes in
the post in the southwest corner, should be examined by a pest and termite expert to determine if the
damage is from an active or past infestation. If active, extermination measures should be undertaken;

e The inadequate plywood sistering on the first floor joists should be removed and adequate, engineered
sisters or steel reinforcement installed. Other deteriorated members, such as the north header at the
fireplace and the two sets of north-south double joists between the chimney on the north wall of the
north section and the historic safe base should be reinforced according to an engineered design.

e  All structural interventions should be designed by an engineer with experience in the repair and
reinforcement of historic buildings;
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e It is of utmost importance that the original framing members be preserved and reinforced, and not
replaced.

Regarding the roof and moisture protection, the Recommendations section finds that:
e  When the useful life of the existing composition shingle roof reaches its end, it should be replaced with
historically-accurate wood shingles
e  Gutters and rainwater conductors should be added to extend the life of the building’s historic fabric.

Regarding the exterior cladding and trim, the Recommendations section finds that:
e Damaged cladding should be removed from the building and restored under shop conditions;
e  Molding with the profile of the historic crown molding should be reproduced, and installed to replace
the box cornice;
e  Window hoods should be repaired as required and reinstalled; addition hoods should be fabricated to
replace missing hoods;

The Recommendations section finds that, regarding exterior finishes:
e  The weatherboards do not need to be painted at this time;
e Before the building is painted again, the paint should be investigated by a historic paint analyst to
determine the correct historic colors;
e  The doors and shutters should be repainted in the near future to protect the historic fabric.

The Recommendations section finds that, regarding the windows, doors and shutters:

e A campaign of window restoration should be undertaken, with the windows removed from the building
and restored in controlled shop conditions by a contractor experienced in working with historic
windows;

e  Windows should be made operable, should not be painted shut, and where appropriate should have the
hanging system restored;

e Ifcollections are reintroduced into the building, the windows should be fitted with bronze
weatherstripping to seal the openings from air and pollutant infiltration;

e  Exterior wood storm windows with laminated glass or interior spring-fit storm windows should be
installed;

e When the restroom is removed, the exterior door on the east elevation should be restored and made
operable again;

e Both doors should be fitted with weatherstripping to protect the interior and the collections from
pollution;

e  The shutters should be removed from the building, and repaired and painted under shop conditions;

e  Shutter hardware should be removed and rehabilitated; replacements for missing hardware should be
fabricated, based on the surviving historic hardware;

o  Shutters should be rehung using appropriate original or reproduction shutter hanging hardware.
Shutters should not be screwed to the building, as they currently are;

o  If the shutters are hung as they were originally, and interior storm windows are installed, the shutters
could be closed for security, as they originally were meant to be, when the building is closed.

The Recommendations section finds that, on the interior:

e  The restroom should be removed and the door on the east side, originally the door that communicated
with the main factory building along the Cohansey River, should be reopened (and the steps rebuilt);

e The cabinets and platform (in the northeast corner) appear to post date the Period of Interpretation, and
can be removed without jeopardizing historic fabric; it would also be possible to retain and use them, if
desired;

e The double faced clock, should be restored to working order, preserving as much of the historic fabric
as possible;

e Woodwork should be treated with care and respect. If it becomes necessary to remove layers of paint,
it should be done by chemical means and not by sanding;
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e  On the floors, when the finish becomes worn, care should be taken in refinishing. Existing finishes
should be removed by chemical means and by hand scraping, and, with care, hand sanding. Floors
should not be sanded with mechanical sanders, as this destroys the historic surface, leaving the floors
looking inappropriately new;

e Historic plaster should be preserved. Ideally, the ceiling of the first and second builds should have the
gypsum board removed and be replastered;

e  Existing interior paint is in good condition. When it is time to paint the interior woodwork, a historic
paint analyst should be retained to research colors at the Period of Interpretation.

Regarding building systems, the Recommendations section proposes:

e  Construction of a fire-resistant mechanical room enclosure in the basement for the HVAC equipment;

e Construction of combustion air venting for the mechanical room;

e High efficiency warm air furnace, gas-fired, if natural gas service is available or oil fired if natural gas
is not available;

e High-efficiency air conditioning evaporator coil for the furnace, complete with condensate pump.
High-efficiency air conditioning condenser;

e Relined chimney and new flue pipe for an oil-fired furnace. Sidewall venting is specifically not

recommended for this building;

Insulated sheet metal supply air ductwork serving floor registers;

Insulated sheet metal return air ducts from floor grilles;

New fresh air intake with motorized damper for full-occupancy events;

High efficiency dehumidifier for first floor relative humidity control, UltraAire70H by ThermaStor,

LLC, with sheet metal supply and return ductwork separate from the furnace;

e High efficiency dehumidifier for basement relative humidity control, UltraAire70H by ThermaStor,
LLC;

e  Programmable digital humidistat for the dehumidifier control and a 7 day programmable digital
thermostat for the heating, air conditioning and fresh air damper control for the first floor system.

The late-twentieth-century restroom should be decommissioned in its entirety, and the piping and fixtures
removed.

The electrical system should be replaced in its entirety, and the replacement system should include new:

e  Underground single phase service;
200 Ampere, single phase main disconnect and circuit breaker panel in the basement mechanical room;
Grounding;
Three-wire, grounded branch circuit wiring in EMT conduit or flexible metallic cable to lighting and
convenience receptacles;
Interior lighting in period correct fixtures on the first floor and new service lighting in the basement;
Exterior lighting in period correct fixtures;
Emergency lighting in the first floor and basement;
Motion-activated security lighting for the exterior.

The building should be equipped with new fire detection and protection systems consisting of:
e  Smoke detection in the first story and basement;
e Thermal detection in the attic and basement mechanical room;
e Limited area automatic fire protection sprinkler system, freeze-protected, for the entire building;
e Fire alarm control panel, centrally-monitored via hardwired and wireless communications.

The building should be equipped with new security and intrusion detection system consisting of:
e  Contacts on windows and doors of first floor and basement;
e  Glass-break detection in first floor;
e Power-loss detection and communications loss detection;
e  Security alarm control panel, centrally-monitored via hardwired and wireless communications.
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The building should be equipped with new telecommunications consisting of:
e  Underground telecommunication service line and secure entry to building.
e  Wireless back-up communications service for alarm systems.

The Recommendations section presents conceptual cost studies for construction of improvements at the
Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office (Appendix E).

Finally, the Recommendations section presents an overview of a long-term maintenance strategy for
preserving the building and the investment represented by the restoration. A sample maintenance checklist that
can be used by the city for monthly, semi-annual and annual activities is included in Appendix J.
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BACKGROUND AND HISTORICAL ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

The Background and Historical Analysis of this Preservation Plan presents the physical and historical
context of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office, as well as basic descriptions of the historic building
and the immediate site.

This section summarizes:

Formal recognition of the historical integrity and significance of the resource;
Legal ownership of the property;

The location and setting;

The architectural, cultural, and historical significance of the resource;

A description of the historic building and immediate site;

The history of the historic building and property.

HISTORIC DESIGNATION

The Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office has been awarded a Certification of Eligibility as a contributing
building in the Bridgeton Historic District. The Bridgeton Historic District was listed in the New Jersey
Register of Historic Places on 22 February 1982 and in the National Register of Historic Places on 29 October
1982.

HISTORIC NAME

The first recorded mention of the industrial complex on the west bank of the Cohansey, three years after its
construction, referred to it as the Cumberland Nail Works.' In 1856 the business was incorporated under the
name the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company. After that, the site was usually referred to as the Cumberland
Nail and Iron Works. All known period references to the building that is the subject of this report refer to it
simply as the Office.

LEGAL AUTHORITY FOR OWNERSHIP AND STEWARDSHIP

The owner of the Bridgeton City Park is the City of Bridgeton. The city purchased the property on 06 January
1903 for $35,000, from Frank M. Riley, Trustee for the Cumberland National Bank.” The sale was approved by
Bridgeton City Council ordinance, with the first two readings passing on 23 September 1902, and the third
reading passing on 14 October 1902.

LOCATION AND SETTING

The Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office is located on the east side of Mayor Aitken Drive in the
Bridgeton City Park, Bridgeton, Cumberland County, New Jersey, Block 278, Lot 1 (figures 1, 2 and 3). The
site is on the west bank of the Cohansey River, one block west of Bridgeton’s four-square-block downtown
commercial district that lies east of the river. The site is approximately two blocks west of State Route 77,
which runs north-south and leads to Exit 2 of the New Jersey Turnpike, about thirty miles north; it is two blocks
north of State Route 49, which runs east-west. Bridgeton is approximately thirty miles southeast of the
Delaware Memorial Bridge and Interstate 95 by way of Route 49.
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Background and Historical Analysis

Bridgeton was founded in the seventeenth century, became the seat of newly-formed Cumberland County in
1748, and developed into a manufacturing center and the largest city in New Jersey south of Camden in the
nineteenth century. The city retains much of its nineteenth-century built fabric. The vicinity of the Cumberland
Nail and Iron Company Office was the heart of Bridgeton’s industrial district in the nineteenth century. Since
the turn of the twentieth century, it has been a city park, and the office is one of only two buildings remaining
from the industrial complex.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

The vernacular Gothic revival, one-story frame Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office is T-shaped in plan,
with the long side of the leg of the T facing west onto Mayor Aitken Drive (figures 39 through 43, Appendix
H). The south section of the building (the First and Second Builds), the four-bay-by-one-bay T leg, has a gable
roof with the ridge parallel to the street; the roof dies into the higher gable roof of the north section (the Third
Build), the two-bay-by-one-bay T bar, which has its ridge perpendicular to the street. The roof is clad with
composition shingles, and the walls, with wood weatherboards. The weatherboards on the south section are
beaded on the lower edge, and the weatherboards on the north section are plain. The foundation on both
sections is concrete masonry units parged with concrete.

An exterior chimney of brick laid in running bond rises from grade on the north fagade between the two
windows. The chimney tapers in on its east and west sides, with the taper stopping at the point where the
chimney pierces the eave of the facade. The chimney is tapered in again on all four sides at the top four
courses. On the west facade, an exterior brick chimney laid in running bond rises from grade and pierces the
eave between the two southernmost windows.

On the street (west) fagade, the south end of the south section has a six panel entrance door flanked by six-over-
six fixed/sliding windows; about three quarters of the way from the south end, the weatherboards are interrupted
by a vertical member that appears to be a former corner board; a third window is centered in the northern
quarter. Between the southernmost window and the end of building, the face of a clock is set into the wall
under the eaves. In the end of the north section, which projects toward the street, a six-over-six window, both
wider and taller than those on the south section (as are all the windows in the north section) is surmounted by a
four-over-four window with pointed head set in the gable.

The south fagade of the south section has a six-over-six fixed/sliding window surmounted by a pointed four-
over-four window in the gable. There is no fenestration on the south fagades of either the east or west
extensions of the north section.

The east facade is similar to the west fagade, with three exceptions. At the south end, a six-panel door is located
toward the south, with two windows toward the north. The four-over-four window in the gable of the north
section does not have a pointed head. A modern bulkhead cellar door is located in the approximate center of the
north section.

The north fagade has two six-over-six fixed/sliding windows flanking the previously-described chimney.

All the windows except the gable windows are fitted with wood shutters screwed to the weatherboards. The
shutters on the south section have three panels, and the shutters on the north section have two panels. The
northernmost window on the east facade of the south section has one shutter missing.

The interior is one large open space, with the exception of a restroom that has been partitioned off the southeast
corner. For purposes of analysis and description, the room has been divided into the three periods of
construction, with room 101 being to the south, room 102 in the center, and room 103 forming the bar of the T.
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Background and Historical Analysis

Rooms 101 and 102 have plaster walls and a new gypsum drywall ceiling, and room 103 has a plaster ceiling
and walls. The floors, which reflect the three building campaigns in their patterns, have been sanded and coated
with polyurethane. Various built in shelves and display cases line the walls.

A brick fireplace with a wood federal mantel and surround is centered on the north wall. In the southwest
corner, a hatch in the ceiling provides access to the attic. On the west wall in the southwest corner, the double-
faced clock has a door that provides access to the workings, for winding and repair.

SIGNIFICANT FEATURES

The structure’s most significant exterior feature is the face of the clock set in the east wall, with the maker’s
name, John Whitehead, intact. Other significant exterior features include the east and west doors, the windows
and shutters, door and shutter hardware, and the wood cladding and trim. The window hoods, now
disassembled and stored in the basement, are significant.

Significant interior features include:
e Floorboard pattern showing sequence of construction and location of built-in safe;
e Foundation for safe in basement, with stabilizing iron strapping dating from the Cumberland Nail and
Iron Company tenure;
e  Plaster walls and ceiling;
Interior elements of the John Whitehead clock;
Wood trim.

ARCHITECTURAL, CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

The Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office is primarily significant as one of two buildings surviving from
Bridgeton’s first major industry.’

The building has:

e Historical significance as the corporate heart of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company, Bridgeton’s
major industry throughout the nineteenth century, and the business that propelled Bridgeton from being
a small county seat to becoming an important South Jersey municipality;

e  Cultural significance for its preservation by the City of Bridgeton at the time of the formation of the
Bridgeton City Park, following the dissolution of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company at the turn
of the twentieth century;

e  Cultural significance for its continued use throughout the twentieth century in its role as the meeting
place of many civic organizations and home of the Bridgeton Antiquarian League’s museum.

BUILDINGS AND ARRANGEMENT

The Cumberland Nail and Iron Company Office is one of two buildings surviving from the nineteenth-century
industrial complex. The second structure, the pattern shop, is located about six hundred feet north, on the
opposite side of Mayor Aitken Drive. Two other structures are currently located adjacent to the office. The
Dame Howell’s School, a small one-room schoolhouse, was moved from Pine Street in Bridgeton to a location
north of the office in 1975 when it was threatened by an urban-renewal project. A late-twentieth-century wood
gazebo is located northeast of the office. The spike machine from the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company was
preserved as a relic when the plant was demolished, and is located between the office and the river; the machine
has been protected by a sheltering roof in the past, but currently has no protection.
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Background and Historical Analysis

PREVIOUS USES OF LAND AND PREVIOUS STRUCTURES ON SITE

Archaeological analysis of the area concluded that the low-lying land adjacent to and north of the Cohansey
River is not likely to contain prehistoric remains because “much of what is now the Bridgeton City Park was
originally low swampland. This obviously would have had a marked effect upon aboriginal settlement within
the...area by restricting those zones suitable for habitation.”*

There is no documentary evidence of the existence of structures on the site before the property was purchased
by Benjamin and David Reeves in 1815. Smith Bowen sold the property to the Reeves brothers within about a
year of the completion of the water power project; there is no record of his having constructed a mill on the
property in that brief period.

The oldest part of the office (the First Build) dates from the original construction of the nail works in 1815.
Since fire destroyed the main factory in 1824, the exact configuration of buildings on the site before that date is
not definite, but it was probably similar to the site after it was rebuilt, and as it appears on the Hexamer General
Survey map of 1866 (figure 6).

According to that map, a cartway entering the site from Commerce Street was located approximately where
Mayor Aitken Drive is now, and the office had a similar relation to it (figure 7). The office was in the center of
the complex of buildings. The major works, the foundry, nail mill and nail storehouse were arrayed along the
west bank of the Cohansey, east of the office. To the south, west and north of the office were eight small
buildings housing support functions, including a lumber storehouse, an empty keg storehouse, a fire engine
shed, a carpenter shop, a storehouse for old lumber, a stave storehouse, another empty keg storehouse, and a
cooper shop. All the support buildings were frame with wood shingle roofs except the cooper shop, which was
brick with a wood shingle roof. The foundry and nail mills were stone, the mills with slate roofs and the
foundry with a tile roof. North of the mills, but attached, was a frame machine shop with a shingle roof and a
brick smith shop with a slate roof. Visitors entering the site by means of the gated cartway would have
encountered the office before reaching the mills and foundry.

On the east bank of the Cohansey in 1866 was the 1847 rolling mill, frame with a shingle roof, and the 1853 gas
pipe works, brick with a slate roof. A second entrance to the site was located to the east, on an axis with the
courtyard separating the rolling mill and gas pipe works. There, a 15' by 16' brick office was located right at the
entrance, between the vehicular gate and the pedestrian gate. This entrance and office were located at the
present intersection of Washington and Cohansey Streets.

Circulation within the site was provided by a bridge over the Cohansey, located where the Washington Street
bridge now stands.

HISTORICAL OVERVIEW

CUMBERLAND NAIL WORKS

When Ebenezer Seeley (1760-1840),” James Lee (?-?), and Smith Bowen (1763-?) initiated a joint venture to
harness the water power of the upper reaches of the Cohansey River watershed, between 1810 and 1814, they
were continuing an industrial movement in Bridgeton that began about 1686 when Richard Hancock erected a
dam on Mill Creek to run a saw mill. Hancock’s venture was followed by a dam and gristmill erected by
Ephraim Seeley in the Indian Fields area (now East Lake) in 1700. Starting about 1809, Jeremiah Buck
constructed a new, larger dam in the vicinity and four mills to utilize the water power: a sawmill, gristmill,
cotton mill and woolen mill.®

The dam of Seeley, Lee and Bowen was located over a mile north of the center of Bridgeton, and was known as
Tumbling Dam, with the pond behind it called Tumbling Dam Lake (now Sunset Lake). Local legend relates
that the one-and-a-half-mile-long raceway from the dam to the factory site was constructed in one year
beginning in 1811 by a father and two sons, working for $.50 a day apiece, which would put the total cost for
the raceway at less than $500.”
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Seeley and Lee owned the land on the east side of the Cohansey, where they planned to build a paper mill; and
Bowen, on the west.® The plan for the paper mill was abandoned when the price of paper plummeted following
the end of the War of 1812, when paper could once again be imported from England, and Seeley and Lee built a
sawmill instead.

About 1814 or 1815, Smith Bowen sold his property and his fifty percent share of the water power to brothers
Benjamin and David Reeves. Benjamin (1779-1844) and David (1793-1871) (figure 18) were the eldest and
youngest of the five children of Thomas and Keziah Reeves, a prosperous farming family of Deptford
Township, Gloucester County, New Jersey. In his twenties, Benjamin was a merchant in Philadelphia. In 1811,
he became involved in the ownership of ferries running from the foot of Market Street in Philadelphia, along
with his cousin Clement Reeves.” He apparently also owned a hotel in Camden; when the Cumberland Bank
was founded in 1816, one of the locations for bank stock subscriptions was Benjamin Reeves’ Hotel in
Camden.'® He was thirty-six, and his brother David just twenty-two, when they undertook the establishment of
a cut nail manufactory on the property along the Cohansey. "'

The source of their capital has not been determined, but it probably came from their family, or was made
available to them through family connections. Clement and Benjamin’s great-grandfather, John Reeves,
secured in 1704 the exclusive right to operate a ferry between Burlington and Philadelphia. He became one of
the wealthiest men of his generation in the region, and his son Thomas, Benjamin’s father, was known as a
particularly well-to-do farmer and land owner in Gloucester County. '

The venture seems to have been well-funded and successful from the beginning. Within ten years, it employed
forty to fifty people, and was valued at more than $10,000. Cut nails were a relatively new invention, and the
Reeves’ operation began at a point in time that allowed them to benefit from the rapidly growing demand.

In the eighteenth century, wrought nails were hand-formed from nail-rods, split from rolled metal plates
manufactured in rolling mills. Each nail had to be drawn to a point, and the head formed by a hammer. The
hammer blows to the head left a distinctive mark that resulted in the product being known as “rose-head” nails.
Wrought nails remain malleable, and can be clinched without damage to the nail.

About 1790, the first machine-made cut nails were developed. The nail shanks were cut from rolled plates, with
the plate being reversed between blows to result in a taper. The nails were tapered on two sides where cut from
the plate, but the other two sides were parallel, the thickness of the plate. In the beginning, the heads were still
formed by hand, by hammer blows.

Of the cut-nail industry at that period, it has been said “The development of nail technology at the turn of the
nineteenth century was so rapid that it can easily be compared to the rise of calculators and computers in the
1960s and 1970s.” Two actions by the new federal government were behind the technology growth. Congress
imposed a duty on imported nails in 1789 to encourage independence from foreign sources and increase
domestic pﬁ?duction, and, in 1790, the first US Patent Act was passed, providing federal protection for new
mventions.

Research into the development of cut nail manufacturing technology has been stymied by the 1836 fire in the
US Patent Office that destroyed most specifications and drawings for patents filed before that date, but it
appears that the earliest machine that both cut and headed nails was patented by Jacob Perkins in 1795, and was
operating in Amesbury, Massachusetts even before that. In 1807, Jesse Reed, of Bridgewater, Massachusetts,
patented a machine that incorporated the most important developments in technology over the intervening
decade, and became the standard for the next thirty years.'

Apparently from the beginning, the Cumberland Nail Works used equipment that formed machine-made heads.
Lucius Q. C. Elmer, in 1869, wrote:

The writer remembers to have seen, in the year 1805, the first machine for cutting and

heading nails at one operation ever invented. It was on Crosswicks Creek, in Burlington

County, and was comparatively very complicated. The Patent having been obtained by the

Messrs. Reeves, was soon very much simplified.
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No evidence has been found that either of the Reeves brothers received patents for improvements to nail-
making machinery. Only two patents for nail technology have been identified with Bridgeton. One was issued
to Reneer Dare (1797-1867) of Bridgeton, in 1838, for a “Machine for Heading Spikes and Nails.”'> The
second, for “Gaging and Heading Movement for Spike Machine,” was issued to Purnell Jefferson (1815-1895),
also of Bridgeton, in 1851."

When the factory opened, nails sold for ten to fifteen cents per pound. The quality of the product secured the
Cumberland Nail Works a substantial share of the cut-nail market throughout the eastern states, which it
continued to hold until the last decade of the century.

By 1818, the Cumberland Nail Works was advertising for nail-makers in the Boston area:
Four or five experienced NAIL MAKERS, on Rudd’s patented principle, are wanted in the
CUMBERLAND NAIL WORKS, thirty six miles from Philadelphia, to whom constant employment and
liberal wages will be given...Apply to BENJ. & DAVID REEVES, No. 19, North Front-street,
PHILADELPHIA...N.B. Workman from Eastern Factories will be preferred. 17

The nail mill suffered a devastating fire on Thursday morning, 05 February 1824. The main building and all its
contents were destroyed, and forty to fifty men put out of work. The loss to the Reeves brothers was estimated
at $10,000. The fire was widely reported, with brief accounts appearing in newspapers up and down the coast,
including Trenton; Baltimore, Maryland; Middletown, Connecticut; and Charleston, South Carolina.'® The
factory was immediately rebuilt, bigger than before (figures 23 and 24).

In 1826, Joseph Whitaker, Jr. (1789-1870), who manufactured cut nails in Philadelphia with his brother James
from 1809 until 1820, and ran the leased Delaware Iron Works near Wilmington and the Gibraltar Forge at
Reading after that, joined the Reeves brothers at their Bridgeton factory. The next year, the Reeves brothers
and Whitaker purchased the Phoenix Iron Works at Phoenixville, west of Philadelphia. This enterprise had
been founded in 1793, but did not become truly successful until taken over by the Reeves.'’ In 1827, Reeves &
Whitaker, a partnership with the Reeves brothers, Joseph Whitaker, Joseph’s brother James, and Francis
Leaming, was formed.""*!

REEVES, BUCK & Co.

Reeves & Whitaker was dissolved 1847; Benjamin had died by then, and Joseph Whitaker withdrew and
embarked on building a steam sawmill, operated as David & Whitaker. David Reeves then formed a
partnership with Robert Shute Buck (1802-1877) (figure 20) and Robert C. Nichols (1814-1900) (figure 21);
this partnership was known as Reeves, Buck & Co. (figures 24 and 25).

Robert S. Buck was the son of Bridgeton builder and entrepreneur Jeremiah Buck and his wife Sarah Holmes
Buck. When Robert was seventeen, Jeremiah experienced bankruptcy as a result of the recession following the
War of 1812; thereafter, he was the innkeeper at the major hostelry in Bridgeton, on the northwest corner of the
Commerce and Laurel intersection. Robert soon made his own place in the community; when he was just
twenty-three, he was elected sheriff. He served for three years, but thereafter never held public office again,
despite requests for his involvement. At the end of his term as sheriff, he engaged in manufacturing bone
buttons until, in 1836, he began working for Cumberland Nail and Iron Company.

When Joseph Whitaker withdrew in 1847, Buck, along with Nichols, purchased Whitaker’s interest in the
company. Buck then moved to Phoenixville, and assumed management of the Phoenix Iron Works for a period
of about ten years; Nichols became manager of the Bridgeton operation.

Robert C. Nichols had been born to General Robert Nichols and Sarah Van Dam Mesier Nichols in Brooklyn,
NY. The Nichols family moved to Philadelphia; later, Robert C. Nichols moved to Norristown, PA, where he
engaged in the manufacture of nails and iron. When he became a partner in 1847, his Norristown plant was
consolidated with the Bridgeton plant; the Norristown machinery was physically transferred to Bridgeton.?

At the Bridgeton plant, by the late 1830s, the demand for cut nails was pushing production to the limits of the
available water power. Reeves & Whitaker secured an act of the New Jersey Legislature to build a dam across
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the Cohansey at the approximate location of the current Washington Street Bridge. However, before it was
constructed, a more efficient solution was developed.

The solution came from the expertise of Phoenix Iron Company’s Chief Engineer, George Walters (1810-?)
(figure 22). Walters, a Chester County, PA native, was first apprenticed to a coach maker, but at the age of
twenty-eight moved to Phoenixville and joined the Phoenix Iron Company as a pattern maker and draftsman.
He progressed rapidly through the company, and within a decade became Chief Engineer, a position he held for
over twenty-five years. Among his accomplishments were the design of the blast furnaces at Havre-de-Grace,
Maryland in 1844; design of the blast furnaces at Phoenixville in 1845; design and construction supervision of
the rail mill at Phoenixville in c. 1846; superintendent of the rail mill at Safe Harbor, Pennsylvania, in c. 1846;
construction of the plant at Spring Mill Furnaces, 1849; and design of the reconstruction of furnaces of Cambria
Iron Company at Johnstown, Pennsylvania. He was the engineer for construction of the iron work for the
International Railway Bridge built to cross the Niagara River at Buffalo between 1871 and 1873; he prepared all
drawings at the Phoenixville plant, where the iron-work was fabricated, and duplicate copies of all drawings
were sent to the contractor who erected the bridge. The bridge was constructed of twelve Pratt-truss spans, and
is still in daily use. But perhaps Walters’ greatest contribution was his innovative design for a blast furnace that
used the same source of heat to both heat the iron and generate steam; the first use of this design was at Havre-
de-Grace in 1844.

Three years after the new design was constructed in Havre-de-Grace, it was put into practice in Bridgeton,
solving the problem of insufficient water power without the construction of a new dam. In 1847, a new rolling
mill was constructed on the east side of the Cohansey, using Walter’s innovation; it was operated by a steam
engine, the steam being supplied by the same boilers that heated the iron. At this time, the rolling operation on
the west side was abandoned, and all the water power from Tumbling Dam devoted to operation of the nail
mills. With the elimination of the need for water power by the rolling mill, there was sufficient power to meet
the needs of the nail operation.

A large pipe mill was constructed in 1853, on the east bank, north of the rolling mill. The company’s operation
was expanded to include the manufacturing of wrought iron, gas-pipe and water-pipe. Apparently, George
Walters was responsible for the design of this expansion, as well.

CUMBERLAND NAIL AND IRON COMPANY

In 1855, Reeves, Buck & Co. was incorporated as Phoenix Iron Co. in Pennsylvania; David Reeves was
president, and his son, Samuel J. Reeves (1818-1878) (figure 19) was vice president. Soon after the
reorganization, David Reeves reportedly entrusted the operation and management of both the Phoenix Iron Co.
and the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company to Samuel. However, Samuel Reeves apparently concentrated on
management of the Phoenix plant. Robert S. Buck returned to Bridgeton and retained his financial interest in
the company, but retired from active participation. When Cumberland Nail and Iron Company was
incorporated in New Jersey in 1856, management of the Bridgeton operation continued to be the responsibility
of the third partner, Robert C. Nichols, who in December of that year reportedly became president of the
company as well as general manager.”*** “Mr. Nichols...managed these works, and by his business tact and
energy greatly increased their capacity and enhanced the reputation of their products.”

Nichols was active in the Bridgeton community; he was one of the originators of the Bridgeton Building
Association, was a director and then president of the Bridgeton Gaslight Company, and was a director of both
the Cumberland Mutual Insurance Company and the Cumberland National Bank. He remained active in the
Cumberland Nail and Iron Company until his retirement in 1871; he thereafter continued to be a stockholder.

In 1865, Robert Shute Buck purchased a controlling interest in Cumberland Nail and Iron Company. The
History of Gloucester, Salem and Cumberland Counties, New Jersey describes both Robert Shute Buck and
Robert C. Nichols as company president in the late 1860s.® The most likely explanation is that upon
purchasing controlling interest, Buck became the equivalent of chairman of the board, while Nichols, in his role
as general manager, became the equivalent of chief executive officer. Robert S. Buck continued in his role as
chairman of the board until his death in 1877. When Robert Nichols retired in 1871, Robert James Buck (1845-
1917), Robert S. Buck’s son, became chief executive officer. Apparently, upon Robert S. Buck’s death, Robert
J. Buck then became chairman of the board as well.
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By the 1880s the operation had reached its zenith (figures 6 through 12 and 26 through 30). Machinery
consisted of ten double puddling-furnaces, four heating furnaces, two trains of rolls, eighty-four nail machines
and six furnaces for welding gas and water pipes. A workforce of four hundred men produced annually one
hundred forty thousand kegs of nails and four million feet of gas and water pipes.*’

In the 1890s, Robert J. Buck continued as president and his brother, Chester J. Buck (1847-1909) was vice-
president; John M. Reeves (1849-1919), brother of Robert J. Buck’s wife, was secretary and treasurer.”® The
last decade of the nineteenth century produced a series of adverse events that together led to the demise of the
once-thriving cut nail industry. Wire nails, which were invented in the mid-nineteenth century, were making
inroads at an increasing rate into the cut nail market because of their lower price. The Panic of 1893, which
lasted until 1897 and was the most serious depression in the history of the country before the Great Depression,
saw unemployment rise as high as seventeen to nineteen percent, the failure of five hundred banks, and the
foreclosure of many middle-class mortgages. Throughout the decade, the fortunes of the Cumberland Nail and
Iron Company fell and rose and fell again, with the people of Bridgeton ever hopeful the industry would once
again return to its previous strength.

In January of 1892, The New York Times announced “The works of the Cumberland Nail and Iron Company,
comprising puddling, sheet, pipe, and nail mills, have been closed indefinitely. A large number of workmen are
thrown out of employment.”*’ The nail mills resumed operation on 14 September 1894.° In 1895, the
complex was leased to a New York firm.*' The puddling mill, which had reopened, closed again on 20 October
1895, only to reopen on 16 December of that year. The Bridgeton Evening News noted “it is gratifying to know
that it has resumed operations.”*

What the Bridgeton Evening News called a “diminutive strike” took place at the coal yard in June 1898 when
the laborers who unloaded the coal from the barges for $1.25 a day stopped work and demanded a twenty-five-
cent raise. The very next day, they returned to work when the company acceded to their demands and raised
their pay to $1.50 a day.™

The next month, the once industry-dominant Cumberland Nail and Iron Company went into receivership, for
unpaid mortgages amounting to $175,000. Former Bridgeton mayor John Smalley was appointed receiver by
the court. The two primary stockholders were company president Robert J. Buck and vice-president Chester J.
Buck.*

The end finally came on 09 December 1899, when the property was sold at public auction as part of the
bankruptcy proceedings. The sale took place in front of the Hotel Cumberland, on North Laurel Street, at two
o’clock on Saturday afternoon. A “vast number of people” gathered, with “bankers, lawyers capitalists,
merchants, wage earners, farmers and the ever present small boy” represented.®

The auction was under the authority of George H. Hampton, Special Master in Chancery, with real estate
auctioneer H. L. Tyler conducting the bidding. A fifteen-minute synopsis of the premises description was read,
it was estimated that it would have taken two hours to read the entire description.

The auctioneer started the bidding at $100,000.
He dropped to $90,000, to $80,000, to $75,000, and still no bid. He asked for $70,000, and Frank M.
Riley, cashier of the Cumberland National Bank, said, “I will bid $70,000.” This figure was called for
several minutes, and there was no advance. “Without advance, I will sell this valuable property,” called
the auctioneer. “Going, going. Are you ready to have it knocked down? Going, fair warning,
everybody...Going and sold to—" “Frank M. Riley, Trustee for the first and second mortgage bond
holders,” replied Mr. Riley, and the great plant, with all its vast property, had changed hands.*

The initial reaction to the sale was one of great optimism. The bondholders immediately made arrangements
with C. R. Baird & Co., of Philadelphia, to operate the plant, and it was anticipated it would be reopened within
a month. However, it was not to be. The price of iron declined precipitously over the next months, and by
December 1900, C. R. Baird & Co. was also in bankruptcy.’
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Background and Historical Analysis

CLock

The double-faced clock is believed to have been installed in the office before 1830. The exterior face of the
clock is labeled “John Whitehead.” John Whitehead (1791-1875), born in Pennsylvania, was a jeweler and
clockmaker; it is possible he was the son of a John Whitehead who was a clockmaker in Woodbury, NJ in the
1750s. Before 1821, he had a shop in Woodbury; that year, he moved to Haddonfield, where the shop that he
took over from clockmaker Job Hollinshead was located on the northwest side of King’s Highway, a few doors
west of the Indian King Tavern.”®* In 1822, he was made the librarian for the Haddonfield Library Company,
in return for one share of stock in the company. *°

On Thursday afternoon, 24 March 1825, John Whitehead and Anne B. Ellis were married in Philadelphia by
Rev. John Sisty, pastor of the First Baptist Church of Haddonfield.*' Anne (c. 1801-1873) was the daughter of
Aaron Ellis (1774-1835) and Lucretia Ellis (1773-1863); the Ellises were members of the Haddonfield Baptist
Church. John and Anne’s son William W. Whitehead was born in Haddonfield in 1828.

It appears that the family moved to Philadelphia in 1848. John Whitehead did not appear in the Philadelphia
directories before that, but in 1848 he was listed as a clockmaker, at Nectarine below 11™.** In the 1850 federal
census, both John and his son, living in the same household, described themselves as watchmakers; in the
directory for that year, John is not listed, but William W. appears as a clockmaker at 10™ above Pleasant
Street.* In 1855, John was listed as a clock and watch maker, and William as a watch maker, both at 295 N.
10™ (probably the same address as in 1850 in a different format).* William Whitehead was a subscriber to the
directory in 1857, giving him the advantage of having his name listed in capitals, but his father’s name did not
appear that year; William’s address was at 301 N. 10™.* The next year, the Whiteheads moved to 459 N. 10"
Street, the house, in conjunction with the one next door at 461, that the extended family occupied for the rest of
John’s life. By 1870, John, then 79, and William, who had married and lived next door at 461 with his wife
Sarah and five-year-old son Joseph, both identified themselves as jewelers; in the directory for that year, John
lived and had his place of business at 459, and William lived at 461 but listed his place of business as 459.**
In 1875, both John and William were listed at 461 N. 10", with John as a jeweler and William as a
watchmaker.*® John Whitehead died on 05 August 1875 at age 85 at 461 N. Tenth Street, Philadelphia; he was
buried in Haddonfield.*

William, who died in 1898, is buried in the cemetery of the First Baptist Church of Haddonfield; the family plot
in which William is buried was purchased by him in 1858, but his parents are not known to have been buried
there.”® Ann’s parents Aaron and Lucretia Ellis are buried in the same cemetery. However, the church has no
record of graves for John and Ann; if they are buried there with their son, grandchildren and Ann’s parents,
their graves are unmarked and unrecorded.’’

BRIDGETON CITY PARK

Gradually, over the course of the nineteenth century, the extensive land holdings of the Cumberland Nail and
Iron Company became a de facto city park. Citizens boated on the raceway, and walked the paths and trails.
The access to nature provided by the tract was used as a selling point for the private educational institutions in
Bridgeton, particularly Ivy Hall Seminary, which was directly adjacent 